Assignments of Error
Statement of the Case 2
Summary of Argument6
Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision
Argument 8
1. It was reversible and prejudicial error, and an abuse of discretion, for the circuit court to deny the underlying petition to empanel a special grand jury 8
2. It was reversible and prejudicial error, and an abuse of discretion, for the circuit court to deny the petition for disclosure of grand jury proceedings 12
3. It was reversible and prejudicial error, and an abuse of discretion, for the circuit court to grant the motion to intervene
4. It was reversible and prejudicial error for the court to mis-apply Rule 6, WV R.Civ.P., during motions practice
5. Petitioner's constitutional right of access to the court was denied by the circuit court's refusal of Petitioner's requests for hearings
6. There exists additional evidence that may be presented to a future grand jury $$. 28
7. The previous prosecuting attorney that handled the first grand jury proceeding was defeated in a re-election bid. The current prosecuting attorney, or a substitute prosecuting attorney, may have a different view of a special grand jury presentation
Conclusion 30
Certificate of Service

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases:

Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A. L., 459 SE 2d 415 (WV 1995) passim
Cremans v. Goad, 210 SE 2d 169 (WV 1974)
Cruse v. Blackburn, Case No. CV 3:17-00485, 2017 WV 3065217 at 1
(SD WV 7/19/17) passim
Davis ex rel Davis v. Wallace, 565 SE 2d 386 (WV 2002) passim
Douglas Oil Co. of California v. Petrol Stops Northwest,
441 U.S. 211, 99 S. Ct. 1667, 60 L. Ed. 2d 156 (1979) passim
Marthena v. Haines, 633 SE 2d 771 (WV 2006).
Public Emp. Ins. Bd. V. Blue Cross, 375 SE 2d 809 (WV 1988) (Per Curium) 20
Rollyson v. Jordan, 518 SE 2d 372 (WV 1999) passim
State ex rel. Ball v. Cummings, 208 W. Va. 393, 540 S.E. 2d 917 (1999)
State ex rel. C.T. Miller v. Smith, 285 SE 2d 500 (WV 1981) passim
State v. Crowder, 123 SE 2d 42 (WV 1961)
State of WV v. Matthew Junior Miller, 336 SE 2d 910 (WV 1985) passim
State ex rel. Morgan Stanley & Co. v. McQueen, 416 SE 2d 55 (WV 1992) 29
State ex rel. Ward v. Hill, 489 SE 2d 24 (WV 1997)
Truman v. Auxier, 647 SE 2d 794 (WV 2007) (Per curium)
United States v. Dionisio, 410 U.S. 1, 16-17, 93 S.Ct. 764, 773, 35
L.Ed.2d 61, 81 (1973)
Statutes:
WV Code §52-2-9
www.code 952-2-9
WV Code §52-2-15(b)
WV Code §52-2-15(b)
WV Code §52-2-15(b) 13, 16 WV Code 57-2-3 15 Other Authorities: 15
WV Code §52-2-15(b)
WV Code §52-2-15(b) 13, 16 WV Code 57-2-3 15 Other Authorities: 15
WV Code §52-2-15(b) 13, 16 WV Code 57-2-3 15 Other Authorities: Rule 1.7(a), WV R. Prof. Conduct Constitution of WV:
WV Code §52-2-15(b) 13, 16 WV Code 57-2-3 15 Other Authorities: Rule 1.7(a), WV R. Prof. Conduct
WV Code §52-2-15(b) 13, 16 WV Code 57-2-3 15 Other Authorities: Rule 1.7(a), WV R. Prof. Conduct Constitution of WV:
WV Code §52-2-15(b) 13, 16 WV Code 57-2-3 15 Other Authorities: Rule 1.7(a), WV R. Prof. Conduct Constitution of WV: Art III §17, Constitution of WV WV Rules of Civil Procedure:
WV Code §52-2-15(b) 13, 16 WV Code 57-2-3 15 Other Authorities: Rule 1.7(a), WV R. Prof. Conduct Constitution of WV: Art III §17, Constitution of WV WV Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 1, WV R.Civ.P
WV Code §52-2-15(b) 13, 16 WV Code 57-2-3 15 Other Authorities: Rule 1.7(a), WV R. Prof. Conduct Constitution of WV: Art III §17, Constitution of WV passim WV Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 1, WV R.Civ.P. 25 Rule 6, WV R.Civ.P. passim
WV Code §52-2-15(b) 13, 16 WV Code 57-2-3 15 Other Authorities: Rule 1.7(a), WV R. Prof. Conduct Constitution of WV: Art III §17, Constitution of WV passim WV Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 1, WV R.Civ.P. 25 Rule 6, WV R.Civ.P. passim Rule 6(a), WV R. Civ. P. passim
WV Code §52-2-15(b) 13, 16 WV Code 57-2-3 15 Other Authorities: Rule 1.7(a), WV R. Prof. Conduct Constitution of WV: Art III §17, Constitution of WV passim WV Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 1, WV R.Civ.P. 25 Rule 6, WV R.Civ.P. passim Rule 6(a), WV R. Civ. P. passim Rule 24(a), WV R.Civ.P. passim Rule 24(a), WV R.Civ.P. passim
WV Code §52-2-15(b) 13, 16 WV Code 57-2-3 15 Other Authorities: Rule 1.7(a), WV R. Prof. Conduct Constitution of WV: Art III §17, Constitution of WV passim WV Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 1, WV R.Civ.P 25 Rule 6, WV R.Civ.P passim Rule 6(a), WV R. Civ. P passim Rule 24(a), WV R. Civ. P passim Rule 24(a)(2) WV R. Civ. P passim
WV Code §52-2-15(b) 13, 16 WV Code 57-2-3 15 Other Authorities: Rule 1.7(a), WV R. Prof. Conduct Constitution of WV: Art III §17, Constitution of WV passim WV Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 1, WV R.Civ.P. 25 Rule 6, WV R.Civ.P. passim Rule 6(a), WV R. Civ. P. passim Rule 24(a), WV R.Civ.P. passim Rule 24(a), WV R.Civ.P. passim

WV Rules of Criminal Procedure:
Rule 6(e)(3)(c)(I), WV R. Crim. Pro
WV Rules of Appellate Procedure:
Rule 18(a), WV R. App. Pro. Rule 20, WV R. App. Pro. Rule 20(g), WV R. App. Pro.
WV Rules of Prof. Conduct:
Rule 1.7(a), WV R. Prof. Conduct

Assignments of Error

- 1. It was reversible and prejudicial error, and an abuse of discretion, for the circuit court to deny the underlying petition to empanel a special grand jury.
- 2. It was reversible and prejudicial error, and an abuse of discretion, to deny the petition for disclosure of grand jury proceedings.
- 3. It was reversible and prejudicial error, and an abuse of discretion, for the court to grant the motion to intervene.
- 4. It was reversible and prejudicial error for the court to mis-apply Rule 6, WV R.Civ.P., during motions practice.
- 5. Petitioner's constitutional right of access to the court was denied by the circuit court's refusal of Petitioner's requests for hearings.
- 6. There exists additional evidence that may be presented to a future grand jury.
- 7. The previous prosecuting attorney that handled the first grand jury proceeding was defeated in a re-election bid. The current prosecuting attorney, or a substitute prosecuting attorney, may have a different view of a special grand jury presentation.

Statement of the Case

A. Factual Summary

This case arises from the March 13, 2013 homicide of Wayne A. Jones at the hands of five (5) Martinsburg Police Officers. Jones was shot approximately twenty-two (22) times, including approximately eleven (11) times in the back and buttocks (App. Pg. 1). Jones was initially stopped by police for jaywalking. What should have been a simple, brief encounter was escalated by the police officers into a foot chase, struggle and fatal shooting. Police officers claim Jones had a knife. However, no knife is seen on multiple videos of the shooting, nor has a knife been physically produced in this case or a related federal case. The same videos demonstrate that at the time of his homicide, Jones was laying prone on the ground, unmoving and posing no threat.'

The facts underlying this matter were previously presented to a regular grand jury by a prior prosecutor.² No true bill was returned. Through the case sub judice, Petitioner sought to both obtain a transcript of portions of the previous grand jury presentation, and empanel a special grand jury to re-examine the circumstances of the homicide. Petitioner's requests were denied by the Circuit Court of Berkeley County without the Circuit Court having as much information as possible prior to ruling, i.e., without relevant transcripts of the first

¹ None of the videos were made part of the circuit court record below, but they are a matter of public record, and were referenced several times in the proceedings below. The videos are a part of the record in parallel litigation pending before the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, Case No. 18-2142. The most useful videos are a disturbing record of what amounts to a public execution by "law enforcement" officers acting as judges, jurors and executioners by firing squad. The videos speak volumes about the injustice represented by this case. They say more than the hundreds of words that follow in this brief. The videos are the subject of a contemporaneously filed Motion to Supplement the Appendix.

² The issue of a prior presentation to a Berkeley County Grand Jury concerning the conduct of the police officers involved in this homicide is also the subject of a separate case pending before this court. See this Court's Docket No. 18-0927.

grand jury presentation,3 and without an evidentiary hearing.4

There is related litigation pending in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, Case No. 18-2142; the federal case having been appealed twice from the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia, remanded twice, and now on appeal for the third time. The federal case contains various civil rights claims, negligence and a wrongful death claim. App. Pg. 143.⁵

There has <u>never</u> been a public trial nor a public accounting, in state or federal court, of the facts underlying this homicide. As this case is on appeal in both state and federal courts, there has never been a final decision on the merits.

B. Procedural History

The petition seeking a special grand jury was filed on August 9, 2018. App. Pg. 1.

On September 5, 2018, the Berkeley County Prosecuting Attorney filed a response in opposition to the subject petition. App. Pg. 12-20. The opposition points out that because there are no formal West Virginia guidelines applicable to Petitioner's requests, the requests are within the discretion of the circuit court. App. Pg. 12-13. The opposition essentially argues that because the petition doesn't meet certain non-existent standards of consideration, it should be denied "... as presented." App. Pg. 12. The prosecutor's opposition conceded Petitioner was entitled to seek the requested relief. App. Pg. 13.

In a move that appears to give rise to issues of first impression, on September 6, 2018 the

³ The issue of the grand jury transcripts is discussed in greater detail below.

⁴ The issue of requests for a hearing is discussed in greater detail below.

⁵ A related case is also pending before this Court. See docket No. 18-0927.

police officers responsible for the Jones homicide moved to intervene in this matter.⁶ App. Pg. 22-32.. The Intervenors' incorrect claim that Petitioners "...have no legal right to ask the Circuit Court or the Prosecuting Attorney to present the March 13, 2013 shooting incident to a second grand jury..." (App. Pg. 54) is directly contradicted by WV Code §52-2-9.⁷ Intervenors go on to argue that they are entitled to intervene both as a matter of right under Rule 24(a), WV R.Civ.P., and as a matter of discretion under Rule 24(b), WV R.Civ.P.

On September 13, 2018, the trial court issued a Trial Court Rule (TCR) Rule 22 Scheduling Order on the Motion to Intervene. Pursuant to the order, Petitioner, as non-moving party, had ten (10) days to respond to the Motion to Intervene. App. Pg. 59. However, before the ten (10) days expired, the Court prematurely granted the Motion to Intervene by order dated September 18, 2018. App. Pg. 62. This denied Petitioner an opportunity to provide a substantive response to the Motion to Intervene.

On September 20, 2018, Petitioner filed its Rebuttal in Opposition to State's Response to Petition/Application to Empanel Special Grand Jury. The rebuttal pointed out the State's concession that Petitioner was entitled to seek the requested relief under appropriate circumstances. App.Pg. 71. Petitioner's requests for a hearing on the matter were denied. App. Pg. 72, 75, 144, 147.

The State responded to the Petition for Disclosure of Grand Jury Proceedings on

⁶ The issue of first impression appears to be whether the potential criminal defendants who are the subject of a proposed grand jury presentation should be permitted to intervene in the civil action intended to empanel the same investigating grand jury.

⁷ WV Code §52-2-9 reads in pertinent part: "Second hearing. Although a bill of indictment be returned not a true bill, another bill of indictment against the same person for the same offense may be sent to and acted on by the same or another grand jury."

September 21, 2018. App. Pgs. 78-87. The State's Response highlights the fact that there is very little West Virginia guidance on this issue. Most importantly, the response illustrates that without in camera review of the transcript at issue, the trial court was unable to make a fully informed ruling. Simply put, the underlying facts of this case have not been sufficiently developed for meaningful appellate review.

Intervenors' September 24, 2018 Response to Petition for Disclosure of Grand Jury Proceedings highlights the fact that the lack of guidelines concerning the disclosure of grand jury proceedings appears to be is an issue of first impression in West Virginia. App. Pg. 106-112. Petitioner's September 28, 2018 Rebuttal to State's Response to Petition for Disclosure of Grand Jury Proceedings points out the fact that the only way the trial court can make a fully informed ruling on the issue of transcript production is to review the subject transcript in camera prior to ruling. App. Pg. 142-144. The trial court refused this reasonable and responsible suggestion.

Petitioner's September 25, 2018 Rebuttal to Intervenors' Response to Petition for Disclosure of Grand Jury Proceedings incorporated Petitioner's Rebuttal to the State's response on the issue. Significantly, Petitioner again requested a hearing on the matter. App. Pg. 147. The trial court refused to hold a hearing. This also resulted in a less than fully informed ruling by the trial court.

Petitioner's September 28, 2018 Motion and Memorandum Pursuant to Rule 59(e), WV R. Civ. P., to Alter or Amend the Court's Order Entered September 18, 2018 Granting Motion to Intervene points out that: 1) the trial court ignored the strictures of Rule 6, WV R.Civ.P.; and 2) there are glaring inconsistencies in Intervenors' arguments in support of intervention in the case. App. Pg. 150-151.

Intervenors' October 11, 2018 Response to Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend Order Granting Motion to Intervene failed to address the Rule 6 argument and was essentially a regurgitation of their original Motion to Intervene. App. Pg. 158-167.

The State's October 12, 2018 Response to Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend Order Granting Motion to Intervene took no position on the issue of intervention. App. Pg. 170.

Petitioner's October 15, 2018 Rebuttal to Intervenors' Response to Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend Order Granting Motion to Intervene reiterates the point that the trial court (and, indeed the appellate court) can't make a fully informed ruling on the issues presented in this case without benefit of a partial transcript of the first grand jury presentation. App. Pg. 174.

On October 22, 2018, the trial court entered its Order Denying Petitioner's Motion to Vacate Order Granting Motion to Intervene, Order Denying Petition for Disclosure of Grand Jury Proceedings, and Order Denying Petition/Application to Empanel a Special Grand Jury.

This appeal followed.

Summary of Argument

This case presents issues of first impression and issues with little prior development of guidance and standards from this appellate court. Such guidance could have assisted the trial court in rendering correct and fully informed rulings. As a result, this appellate court is presented with a less than fully developed record for purposes of review. The key piece of missing evidence is a partial transcript of the first grand jury presentation.

Petitioner contends the trial court abused its discretion in refusing the Petition/Application for the empaneling of a grand jury. The trial court further abused its discretion and committed error in incorrectly applying instructive, but not binding,

guidelines concerning the production of grand jury transcripts.

Petitioner contends further that the trial court committed error in granting a motion to intervene and misapplied Rule 6, WV R.Civ.P., in motions practice.

This case represents an apparent reluctance on the part of the trial court to follow the path of truth, wherever that path leads.

Suppressio veri expressio falsi (A suppression of truth is equivalent to an expression of falsehood)

Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision

This case should be placed on the Court's argument calendar pursuant to Rule 18(a), WV R. App. Pro., because it concerns issues of first impression and the decisional process will be aided by oral argument.

This case is suitable for oral argument under Rule 20, WV R. App. Pro., because it involves the following: 1) issues of first impression; 2) insufficient evidence to support the ruling below; 3) issues of fundamental public importance, 4) an unsustainable exercise of discretion where the law governing that discretion is not settled; and 5) constitutional questions regarding a Court ruling.

Petitioner suggests to this Court that this case should be decided on the merits by the issuance of an opinion under Rule 20(g), WV R.Civ.P., for the following reasons: 1) emphasize the application of settled law; 2) correct an abuse of discretion resulting in rulings not supported by evidence; 3) address issues of first impression; 4) address issues of fundamental public importance, i.e., police administration and function; and (5) provide future guidance to trial courts and litigants faced with similar issues in the future.

Argument

1. IT WAS REVERSIBLE AND PREJUDICIAL ERROR AND AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE CIRCUIT COURT TO DENY THE UNDERLYING PETITION TO EMPANEL A SPECIAL GRAND JURY.

A. Standard of Review

An abuse of discretion arises from an erroneous assessment of the evidence or the law.

Davis ex rel Davis v. Wallace, 565 SE 2d 386 (WV 2002); Rollyson v. Jordan, 518 SE 2d 372 (WV 1999); Bartles v. Hinkle, 472 SE 2D 827 (WV 1996).

Interpretation / application of a statute is reviewed de novo. <u>Rollyson v. Jordan</u>, 518 SE 2d 372 (WV 1999), citing Syl. Pt. 1, <u>Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A. L.</u>, 459 SE 2D 415 (WV 1995).

B. Argument

Art. III §17 of the Constitution of WV guarantees citizens access to the court with a minimum of impediments.⁸

WV Code §52-2-1 permits the trial court to empanel a special grand jury.9

WV Code §52-2-14 permits the trial court to empanel a special grand jury.10

State ex rel. C.T. Miller v. Smith, 285 SE 2d 500 (WV 1981) and its progeny permit a second grand jury presentation.

⁸ Art. III, §17: Courts Open to All - Justice Administered Speedily. The Courts of this State shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him, in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law; and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay.

⁹ WV Code §52-2-1 reads in pertinent part: Any circuit court may, at a special, regular or adjourned term thereof, whenever it shall be proper to do so, order a grand jury to be drawn and to attend such term.

WV Code §52-2-14 reads in pertinent part: Whenever it appears to the judge of any court of record having criminal jurisdiction that there may be possible offenses against the criminal laws of this State which because of their complexity and involvement may require a grand jury to sit for an extended period of time, he may, pursuant to the provisions of this section, order a grand jury to be drawn and to attend any special, regular or adjourned term of such court.

Despite overwhelming authority permitting the relief sought by Petitioner, the trial court summarily dismissed Petitioner's request for relief.

The trial court's October 23, 2018 Order Denying Petition / Application to Empanel a Special Grand Jury is replete with erroneous findings and conclusions, or conclusions not supported by the facts and law, to-wit:

- 1. "In October, 2013, the Berkeley County Prosecuting Attorney, presented the circumstances of the March 13, 2013 shooting incident to a Berkeley County Grand Jury...

 They (the grand jury) found the shooting justified under the circumstances." App. Pg. 194.
- 2. The request for a second grand jury "... has no legal or factual basis..." App. Pg. 195.
- 3. The Berkeley County Prosecuting Attorney fulfilled her constitutional duty as the State's representative and the Petitioner's representative by presenting the March 13, 2013 shooting incident to a grand jury in October, 2013." App. Pg. 196. 13
- 4. "There is a presumption that prosecuting attorneys and law enforcement officers will perform their duties with integrity, and will evaluate or investigate criminal complaints fairly

See also C.T. Miller, supra.

Without the transcript of the grand jury proceedings, neither the trial court, nor this appellate court, know what was presented nor whether the shooting was "justified". The issue of partial transcripts of the proceedings is discussed below.

This finding is directly contradicted by WV Code §52-2-9. In addition to the shocking facts of the "homicide", and the finding of the US Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit of genuine issues of material fact as to whether excessive force was used (App. Pg. 93), there may be additional factual bases revealed by a partial transcript of the first grand jury presentation, which transcript has never been produced.

¹³ There is no way to determine the accuracy of this finding without a partial transcript of the proceeding.

and skillfully." (Citation omitted)¹⁴ App. Pg. 196.

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