# FILE COPP NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

ESTATE OF WAYNE A. JONES,

Petitioner,

V.

BERKELEY COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 18-1045

## INTERVENOR-RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Appeal Arising from Orders Entered on September 18, 2018, October 22, 2018, and October 23, 2018 in Civil Action No. 18-P-318 in the Circuit Court of Berkeley County, West Virginia

Joseph L. Caltrider
W.Va. State Bar No. 6870
BOWLES RICE LLP
Post Office Drawer 1419
Martinsburg, West Virginia 25402-1419
(304) 264-4214
jcaltrider@bowlesrice.com
Counsel for Intervenor-Respondents

##

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Article III, Section 17 of the West Virginia Constitution guarantees people access to the courts of this State. It does not, however, guarantee people repeated access to the courts of this State until they obtain the result they desire. This is what Petitioners truly seek in the present case: repeated access and a specific result. The Circuit Court wisely recognized this as an abuse of the grand jury process and correctly acted in its "gatekeeper" role to deny the Petition/Application of the Estate of Wayne A. Jones to Empanel a Special Grand Jury for Consideration of a Complaint.

In October 2013, the Berkeley County Prosecuting Attorney presented the circumstances of the March 13, 2013 shooting incident and Wayne A. Jones' death to a Berkeley County grand jury. The duly sworn citizens who heard this presentation found no probable cause to charge any of the Police Officers with any crime related to the incident. Unhappy with this result, and hoping to build a \$100,000,000 civil case, Petitioners asked the Circuit Court to allow a *second* grand jury to consider the incident a *second* time in hopes of undermining the first grand jury's "no probable cause" finding.

Unlike <u>State ex rel. Miller v. Smith</u>, 168 W. Va. 745, 285 S.E.2d 500 (1981) – where a prosecuting attorney refused to present evidence of an alleged crime to a grand jury and a citizen was allowed to make his own presentation – the Berkeley County Prosecuting Attorney presented the March 13, 2013 incident to a duly sworn grand jury. She made this presentation as a representative of the State of West Virginia, including Petitioners. Her presentation is entitled

to a presumption of fairness, skillfulness, and good faith. *See* <u>Harman v. Frye</u>, 188 W. Va. 611, 620, 425 S.E.2d 566, 575 (1992) ("There is a presumption that prosecuting attorneys and law enforcement officers will perform their duties with integrity, and will evaluate or investigate [] criminal complaints fairly and skillfully.").

After considering the Berkeley County Prosecuting Attorney's presentation, Berkeley County's duly sworn grand jury determined there was no probable cause to charge any of the Police Officers with a crime related to the March 13, 2013 shooting incident. The October 2013 grand jury made this determination as representatives of the State of West Virginia, including Petitioners. Their deliberations are also entitled to a presumption of fairness, diligence, and good faith. *See* State ex rel. Miller v. Smith, 168 W. Va. 745, 756-757, 285 S.E.2d 500, 506 (1981) ("Once their oath is administered, [] grand jurors become officers of the court with the duty to 'diligently inquire and true presentment make of all such matters as may be given you in charge or come to your knowledge ....'").

Contrary to their arguments, Petitioners have already been granted access to the courts of this State through the Berkeley County Prosecuting Attorney and the October 2013 grand jury. Petitioners simply did not obtain the result they desired (i.e. an indictment of the Police Officers). This does not, however, justify a "do over" under the guise of the "open courts" provision of the West Virginia Constitution.

People should not be allowed to use the criminal complaint procedure, or the grand jury process, as a retaliatory measure to prosecute personal grievances or as a tool to advance their civil case for monetary damages. *See* Harman v. Frye, 188 W. Va. 611, 618, 425 S.E.2d 566, 573 (1992) (reviewing several state court decisions which expressed these "strong concerns"). Likewise, people must be protected from being forced to defend against frivolous or vindictive

prosecutions. <u>Id</u>. Imagine the impact of repeated and unlimited grand jury presentations on people who have already been exonerated by a grand jury, particularly police officers who subject themselves to criticism and put themselves in harm's way for our protection every single day.

Because a grand jury "is an arm or agency of the court by which it is convened" and "has no independent existence," the circuit court has both the power and the obligation to curb proposed abuse of the grand jury. State ex rel. Doe v. Troisi, 194 W. Va. 28, 34-35, 459 S.E.2d 139, 145-146 (1995). The Circuit Court correctly exercised its discretion and "gatekeeper" control over the grand jury by refusing Petitioners' request for a biased and improper *second* presentation of the March 13, 2013 incident to a *second* grand jury. The Circuit Court also correctly exercised its discretion by refusing Petitioners' request to review all transcripts of the October 2013 grand jury's consideration of this incident. Because the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion, this Honorable Court should likewise refuse Petitioners' proposed abuse of the court system, disregard for the work of the Berkeley County Prosecuting Attorney, and attempt to undermine the October 2013 Berkeley County grand jury.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument is not necessary because the Circuit Court properly exercised its discretion as the "gatekeeper" of the grand jury and correctly denied Petitioners' request for a *second* presentation of the March 13, 2013 incident to a *second* grand jury. However, oral argument may be useful to this Honorable Court because: 1) Petitioners have requested oral argument; 2) the dispositive issues have not been authoritatively decided; and 3) the decisional process may be aided by oral argument. W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a).

Should this Honorable Court determine oral argument is necessary, Rule 20 argument is appropriate because: 1) this case involves issues of first impression which present an opportunity to provide specific guidance to Circuit Courts for exercising their discretion as

"gatekeepers" of the grand jury; and 2) this case involves issues of fundamental public importance regarding: a) when it is appropriate to allow a citizen to make a presentation to a grand jury; b) what procedures a citizen must follow if allowed to make a presentation to a grand jury; c) when it is appropriate to allow a second presentation to a second grand jury after a first grand jury has found "no probable cause" for an indictment; and d) when it is appropriate to allow disclosure of otherwise confidential grand jury materials. W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION AS "GATEKEEPER" OF THE GRAND JURY AND CORRECTLY DENIED PETITIONERS' PETITION TO EMPANEL A SECOND GRAND JURY FOR A SECOND PRESENTATION OF THE MARCH 13, 2013 SHOOTING INCIDENT.

"[C]ourts have inherent power over their own process to prevent abuse, oppression, and injustice." State ex rel. Casey v. Wood, 156 W. Va. 329, 334, 193 S.E.2d 143, 145 (1972) citing Krippenorf v. Hyde, 110 U.S. 276, 4 S. Ct. 27, 28 L. Ed. 145 (1884). A "grand jury is an arm or agency of the court by which it is convened and such court has control and supervision over the grand jury." Id at 333, 145 citing United States v. Smyth, D.C., 104 F. Supp. 283 (N.D. Cal, S.D. 1952). Accordingly, "circuit judges are the gatekeepers to the grand jury" and "a citizen may only exercise his right to appear before the grand jury by first making an application to the circuit judge." Camastro v. Smith, No. 5:12CV157, 2013 WL 4478177, at \*5 (N.D. W. Va. Aug. 19, 2013) citing State ex rel. Miller v. Smith, 168 W. Va. 745, 285 S.E.2d 500 (1981).

A Circuit Court's grand jury "gatekeeper" role and the corresponding citizen's application requirement demonstrate a Circuit Court is *not* required to grant access to every citizen who wishes to present a case to a grand jury. Rather, as the designated "gatekeeper," a circuit court has discretion to consider a citizen's application and determine whether that citizen should be permitted to make a presentation to a grand jury under the circumstances.

Where the law commits a determination to a trial judge and his discretion is exercised with judicial balance, the decision should not be overruled unless the reviewing court is actuated, not by a desire to reach a different result, but by a firm conviction that an abuse of discretion has been committed.

Covington v. Smith, 213 W. Va. 309, 322-323, 582 S.E.2d 756, 769-770 (2003) citing Intercity Realty Co. v. Gibson, 154 W. Va. 369, 377, 175 S.E.2d 452, 457 (1970) (additional citations omitted). The Circuit Court certainly exercised its "gatekeeper" role with "judicial balance" in this case. Therefore, this Honorable Court should review the Circuit Court's denial of Petitioners' Petition for a *second* grand jury under an abuse of discretion standard and should *only* overturn the Circuit Court's decision if it has a "firm conviction" that the Circuit Court abused its discretion under the particular circumstances of this case.

A. The Circuit Court Correctly Determined There is No Legal Authority Which Entitles Petitioners to Make a Second Presentation to a Special Grand Jury Five Years After the Prosecuting Attorney Made a Presentation to a Regular Grand Jury and That Duly Sworn Grand Jury Found No Probable Cause to Charge Any of the Police Officers with Any Crime Related to the March 13, 2013 Shooting Incident.

Petitioners cite three sources of legal authority to support their Petition and their appeal: 1) Article III, Section 17 of the West Virginia Constitution; 2) State ex rel. Miller v. Smith, 168 W. Va. 745, 285 S.E.2d 500 (1981) and its progeny; and 3) West Virginia Code § 52-2-1, § 52-2-9, and § 52-2-14. None of these legal authorities entitle Petitioners to undermine the work of the Berkeley County Prosecuting Attorney or the October 2013 Berkeley County grand jury by making a *second* presentation of the March 13, 2013 shooting incident to a *second* grand jury in hopes of obtaining their desired result.

1. Article III, Section 17 of the West Virginia Constitution guarantees people access to the courts of this State; however, it does not guarantee people repeated access to the courts of this State until they obtain the result they desire.

Article III, Section 17 of the West Virginia Constitution states:

The courts of this state shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him, in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law; and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay.

This "open courts" provision does not guarantee a person multiple attempts or a specific result. It merely guarantees a person access to the courts of this State.

Petitioners have already been granted access to the courts of this State. Criminal offenses are offenses against the State. The prosecuting attorney is the constitutional officer charged with prosecuting criminal offenses against the State and its citizens. State ex rel. Miller v. Smith, supra at 752, 504 ("the prosecutor, as the officer charged with prosecuting such offenses, has a duty to vindicate the victims and the public's constitutional right of redress for a criminal invasion of rights"). In this case, the Prosecuting Attorney fulfilled her constitutional duty as the State's representative – and the Petitioners' representative – by presenting the March 13, 2013 shooting incident to the October 2013 grand jury.

"There is a presumption that prosecuting attorneys and law enforcement officers will perform their duties with integrity, and will evaluate or investigate [] criminal complaints fairly and skillfully." Harman v. Frye, 188 W. Va. 611, 620, 425 S.E.2d 566, 575 (1992). Petitioners did not present any reason for the Circuit Court to question this presumption or conclude the Prosecuting Attorney's presentation to the October 2013 grand jury was so flawed, skewed, or unfair that they were denied meaningful access to the courts of this State. Thus, the Circuit Court correctly refused to reverse the presumption and assume, as Petitioners do, that the Prosecuting Attorney's presentation was inherently flawed or improper.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Petitioners' argument that the Prosecuting Attorney's presentation to the October 2013 grand jury was inherently biased due to her association with law enforcement officers ignores this presumption and common sense. As a natural function of her work, a prosecuting attorney is required to associate with law enforcement officers. If such association were sufficient to overcome the presumption of good faith and invalidate a prosecuting attorney's presentation to a grand jury, it would be impossible for any prosecuting

There is also a presumption that grand jurors will perform their duties fairly and diligently. "Once their oath is administered, [] grand jurors become officers of the court with the duty to 'diligently inquire and true presentment make of all such matters as may be given you in charge or come to your knowledge ....'" State ex rel. Miller v. Smith, supra at 756-757, 506; see also State v. Vance, 207 W. Va. 640, 535 S.E.2d 484 (2000) ("Members of the grand jury are not necessarily biased by personal acquaintance with the victim, defendant, or witnesses, but rather, the jurors may be asked to affirm that they can evaluate the case in an unbiased fashion and act impartially."). Petitioners did not present any reason for the Circuit Court to question this presumption or conclude the October 2013 grand jury violated its oath when, after hearing the Prosecuting Attorney's good faith presentation and the Court's instructions of law, the grand jury found no probable cause to charge any of the Police Officers with any crime related to the March 13, 2013 shooting incident. Thus, the Circuit Court also correctly refused to reverse the presumption and assume, as Petitioners do, that the October 2013 grand jury somehow shirked its duties and ignored its statutory oath.<sup>4</sup>

While the October 2013 grand jury's "no probable case" finding is obviously not the result Petitioners desired, there is no dispute the Prosecuting Attorney provided Petitioners access to the courts of this State for purposes of determining whether charges should go forward against the Police Officers. This is all the West Virginia Constitution guarantees. It does not guarantee Petitioners an indictment or multiple presentations to multiple grand juries until they

attorney to present any case involving a police officer to a grand jury. The Circuit Court was correct to reject Petitioners' suggestion this perceived bias alone should overcome the presumption of good faith and entitle them to a *second* presentation to a *second* grand jury.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "You shall diligently inquire and true presentment make of all such matters as may be given you in charge or come to your knowledge touching the present service. You shall present no person through malice, hatred or ill will, nor leave any unpresented through fear, favor, partiality or affection, but in all your presentments you shall present the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth. So help you God." W. Va. Code § 52-2-5.

obtain the result they desire. The Circuit Court correctly recognized that the "open courts" provision of the West Virginia Constitution does not entitle Petitioners to a *second* presentation of the March 13, 2013 shooting incident to a *second* grand jury and properly exercised its "gatekeeper" discretion to deny Petitioners' Petition.

2. <u>State ex rel. Miller v. Smith</u> and its progeny do not guarantee people access to a second grand jury when a prosecuting attorney has already provided them access to the courts of this State by making a presentation to a grand jury.

Petitioners rely upon three West Virginia cases which discuss a citizen's access to a grand jury under Article III, Section 17 of the West Virginia Constitution: 1) State ex rel. Miller v. Smith, supra; 2) Harman v. Frye, supra; and 3) State ex rel. R.L. v. Bedell, 192 W. Va. 435, 452 S.E.2d 893 (1994). The Circuit Court correctly recognized that none of these cases supports Petitioners' claim they have a constitutional entitlement to multiple presentations to a grand jury, particularly after a prosecuting attorney has already made a presentation to a grand jury for them.

Syllabus Point 1 of <u>State ex rel. Miller v. Smith, supra</u>, holds:

By application to the circuit judge, whose duty is to insure access to the grand jury, any person may go to the grand jury to present a complaint to it. W. Va. Const. Art. 3, § 17.

Petitioners would have this Honorable Court conclude <u>Miller</u> creates an absolute, unlimited constitutional right for any person to present any matter to any grand jury as many times as he wishes until he obtains the result he desires. This argument severely overstates the <u>Miller</u> holding and ignores the specific facts of the case which demonstrate clear limitations on the holding.

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